
1 

 

SP011112            

 

CITY OF PORT ST. LUCIE 

 CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

 JANUARY 11, 2012   

 

A Special Meeting of the CITY COUNCIL of the City of Port St. 

Lucie was called to order by Mayor Faiella on January 11, 2012, 

at 11:00 a.m., at Port St. Lucie City Hall, 121 SW Port St. 

Lucie Boulevard, Port St. Lucie, Florida. 

 

1.  MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 

 

2.  ROLL CALL 

 

Council Members 

Present:   Mayor JoAnn M. Faiella 

    Vice Mayor Linda Bartz 

Councilwoman Michelle Lee Berger 

Councilman Jack Kelly 

Councilwoman Shannon M. Martin 

 

Others Present: Jerry A. Bentrott, City Manager 

    Roger G. Orr, City Attorney 

Edward Cunningham, Communications Director 

Marcia Dedert, Finance Director/Treasurer 

Jesus A. Merejo, Utilities Director 

Karen A. Phillips, City Clerk 

David K. Pollard, OMB Director 

Cheryl Shanaberger, OMB Deputy Director 

    April C. Stoncius, Deputy City Clerk  

 

3.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

Mayor Faiella led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

4.  RECONSIDERATION OF ITEM 13 F) FROM JANUARY 9, 2012, CITY 

COUNCIL MEETING, HD SUPPLY WATERWORKS, LTD., AND AWARD OF 

ALTERNATE PROPOSAL TO: 

 

FERGUSON ENTERPRISES, INC., AMENDMENT #1, #20120025, UTILITY 

PIPE AND MATERIALS FOR SOUTH PORT WATER MAIN REPLACEMENT 

PROJECT, ESTIMATED AMOUNT OF $1,155,177.60, ADDITIONAL PIPE MAY 

BE PURCHASED AS NEEDED, FUND 447-3316-5630, UTILITY DEPARTMENT 

 

The City Manager said, “At Monday night’s Council meeting we 

approved the purchase of pipe from HD Supply in the amount of 



CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES            JANUARY 11, 2012  

 

2 

 

$1,380,618.30. Their corporate office wanted to make multiple 

changes to the contract. When they sent back their changes, our 

attorneys reviewed it. We were advised that their addendum was 

not acceptable to sign. It leaves us in a situation where we 

have three options: we can accept their changes and sign the 

addendum, we can acquire the pipe from Felix Associates, or we 

can obtain a new bid from Ferguson. What is causing a real 

problem is that there is a fairly significant price increase for 

the pipe that is going up on an hourly basis. Unfortunately, we 

haven’t been able to hold onto the quotes from last night until 

this morning. Vincent Amato from Felix Associates is checking 

into a quote that he received in early December. He anticipates 

the quotes that he received will no longer be honored, because 

he did not consummate the order at that point. Ms. Shanaberger 

and Mr. Pollard have been working all morning trying to get a 

solid price bid.”  

 

Mr. Pollard stated, “The backup information includes the price 

of the additional pipe purchase from Ferguson. The $1,155,177.60 

price is no longer an offer on the table, because it has changed 

as of this morning. There is roughly a $100,000 increase to 

switch the pipe purchase to Ferguson.” Ms. Shanaberger said, 

“The unit prices have changed. The 6-inch pipe would be $3.67, 

the 8-inch would be $6.37, and the 12-inch would be $13.47. It 

brings the total to $1,253,954.20.” The City Manager pointed 

out, “The engineers have looked at it in the past three weeks, 

and have been able to slightly reduce the quantity of pipe. We 

were going to buy it for $1.3 million Monday night, but we are 

at $1.2 million now because we think we have a little better 

handle on it. We have been able to reduce the quantity of pipe 

for those quotes.” Ms. Shanaberger advised, “We are recommending 

approving the unit prices, because we may have to buy ten extra 

feet of pipe. The new figure would be $1,253,954.20.” Councilman 

Kelly asked, “What was the change in HD Supply Waterworks’ 

price?” Ms. Shanaberger replied, “There was not a change in 

price. They wanted us to sign an addendum that we felt would put 

the City at risk in many areas.” Councilman Kelly explained, 

“What is disappointing is that we go by the books and do 

everything we are supposed to, they put a bid in, and we voted 

on it Monday night, and then they want to change it. When we 

agree on their bid, doesn’t it have to stay the same?” Ms. 

Shanaberger responded, “We didn’t do a bid for this.” Councilman 

Kelly clarified, “They gave you a price.” Ms. Shanaberger said, 

“They gave us a price, and we sent them the contract. Because it 

is such a high dollar amount, the salesman couldn’t sign off on 

it. He sent it to his corporate office, and they sent back an 

addendum. I did not get a chance to review it, because I was out 



CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES            JANUARY 11, 2012  

 

3 

 

of the office until January 9, 2012. I sent it to the Legal 

Department, and that is when we determined that there were a lot 

of changes that we could not approve, unless management decided 

to take some risks.” Councilman Kelly asked, “When did we get 

the price from HD Supply Waterworks that we voted on Monday 

night?” Ms. Shanaberger replied, “We got it before we took it to 

the Council. I can’t tell you the exact date.” Councilman Kelly 

commented, “You can’t say if it was a week ago?” The City 

Manager advised, “The issue with HD Supply Waterworks is not 

that they changed their price, it is that they changed the 

conditions of their contract.”  

 

Vice Mayor Bartz inquired, “Did you say you received it on the 

9th?” Ms. Shanaberger replied in the affirmative. Vice Mayor 

Bartz pointed out, “Which was prior to the Council meeting. It 

then went to the Legal Department? Is that what happened?” Ms. 

Shanaberger responded, “We were reviewing the conditions, and we 

did not have time to assess if we agreed with the terms and 

conditions.” Councilwoman Martin inquired, “You opened it on the 

9th, but when did OMB receive it?” Ms. Shanaberger responded, “I 

opened it on the 9th.” Councilwoman Martin asked, “When did we 

receive it?” Ms. Shanaberger replied, “At 5:52 p.m., on January 

5, 2012, which was Thursday.” Councilwoman Martin clarified, 

“You weren’t in on the 6th, and no one else could have opened 

your email or dealt with the situation Friday or all day Monday. 

That is my concern.” Mr. Pollard remarked, “We did deal with it 

on Monday.” Ms. Shanaberger said, “We looked at it, and chose to 

get prices with Ferguson.” Councilwoman Martin questioned, “Then 

why wasn’t it pulled?” Mayor Faiella commented, “That is what 

I’m concerned about; that is why we are in this position now.” 

Ms. Shanaberger explained, “We did not realize that there was an 

issue before the Council meeting. I did not have time to review 

it to see if the addendum was going to be a problem.” Vice Mayor 

Bartz clarified, “You opened it on the 9th, and it went to the 

Legal Department. At what point did the Legal Department notify 

you of any problems?” Mr. Pollard reported, “We had a verbal 

indication from one of the staff attorneys sometime during the 

workday.” Vice Mayor Bartz said, “That is where our issue is. 

The fact that you knew that there was a problem, and it should 

have been pulled at that point, instead of letting us vote on 

it.” Ms. Shanaberger said, “I agree with you. We didn’t know 

that there was going to be a problem before the Council meeting, 

because I didn’t have time to go through the addendum.” Mr. 

Pollard stated, “With almost every contract there is give and 

take, sometimes after it is approved. We were hoping that 

through negotiations we would resolve the item, but the process 

got sticky.” Ms. Shanaberger remarked, “I apologize.”  



CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES            JANUARY 11, 2012  

 

4 

 

Councilman Kelly asked, “What was the time frame between 

Thursday and when you originally got a price from them?” Ms. 

Shanaberger responded, “I don’t have that information.” 

Councilman Kelly asked, “Do you have any idea? Was it a month 

ago or a week ago?” Mr. Pollard replied, “It must have been the 

Tuesday before the Council meeting, because that is our deadline 

to turn it in to the City Manager for the packet. At that time, 

we had the original contract before the additional conditions 

were offered by HD. On the day of the meeting Ms. Shanaberger 

became aware of the conditions.” Councilman Kelly stated, “I 

have a problem, depending on what that time frame was. You have 

heard from me for 12 years that a deal is a deal. When we make a 

deal with a vendor, I expect it to stay the same.” Mr. Pollard 

said, “We offered the contract to them to review, and they 

brought back additional changes. They had not technically 

accepted our document. We were good with the price, but it was 

the language in the document that we had an issue with. We spend 

all kinds of hours with the Legal Department looking over the 

language of contracts.” Councilman Kelly commented, “Nobody 

should take offense. These are questions we are supposed to 

ask.” Ms. Shanaberger stated, “I agree that it would have been 

much wiser if I would have been faster on the ball, and removed 

it from the agenda.” Mr. Pollard explained, “Had we expected it 

to be a deal breaker, we would have pulled it, but then we would 

have no deal and today we still don’t have a deal.” Mayor 

Faiella said, “That is my concern. We still don’t have a deal. 

We are back to square one.” Mr. Pollard pointed out, “If we were 

ready to look at other options, we would still be in the same 

position if we had pulled it on Monday.”  

 

Councilwoman Berger said, “We agree that there are issues on 

what we voted on, but it is a dead issue. What is the 

recommendation today?” Ms. Shanaberger responded, “You can waive 

the decision, go with HD and sign the addendum, or you can 

accept the prices that have been presented by Ferguson.” 

Councilwoman Berger asked, “What is your recommendation, Mr. 

Bentrott?” The City Manager replied, “We have a firm quote from 

Ferguson that they will honor, so we recommend going with 

Ferguson. We don’t know whether HD will change their prices, but 

we still have the issue with their contract, regardless of what 

the price is. We could obtain the pipe from Felix, but those 

quotes were from early December and are probably not going to be 

the same. There is an industry-wide price increase for pipe.” 

The City Attorney advised, “We went to the pipe suppliers when 

we had a contract with Felix, because if the City makes the 

purchase, we can save 6% in sales tax. If Felix has to purchase 

it under their contract, there is a 6% sales tax that is going 



CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES            JANUARY 11, 2012  

 

5 

 

to be built into their price.” Councilwoman Martin said, “The 

addendum shouldn’t even be an issue, because the Legal 

Department does not agree with it. Why is it even part of the 

recommendation?” The City Manager responded, “It is not a 

recommendation. It is an option where the Council could agree 

with their conditions, and sign it anyway. We are not 

recommending that you do, but it is still an option that is on 

the table.” Mayor Faiella remarked, “We need to move this 

project forward.” Councilman Kelly said, “Time is of the essence 

with this project. We need the pipe, which is going up every 

day. I move to rescind the award, and award it to Ferguson 

Enterprises, Inc. with the firm bid that we have.” The City 

Attorney stated, “If you would indulge me to have a Ferguson 

representative step forward, so we can get on the record that 

they will honor the price that we got today, and that the 

contract language is acceptable, because I don’t want to have to 

do this again.” Vice Mayor Bartz commented, “Nor do we.”  

 

(Clerk’s note: An HD Representative addressed the Council and 

commented, “I’d like to comment too, to give you the rest of the 

story. We weren’t given an opportunity to give a quote the last 

time, so the price. . .”) Mayor Faiella said, “We are going to 

let the Ferguson representative speak first.”  

 

BERNIE MONTOYA, Ferguson Enterprises, Inc., said, “I’m the 

Branch Manager for Ferguson Waterworks in St. Lucie County. We 

have no problem with the way the City requests payment with 

VISA. We knew that going in, and the pricing that we have 

reflects that. We stick to the prices that were submitted.” The 

City Attorney inquired, “Have you seen our contract?” Mr. 

Montoya replied in the affirmative. The City Attorney asked, 

“The contract is fine?” Mr. Montoya replied, “I saw the contract 

verbiage, and we have no problem with it. The biggest issue is 

the VISA, and we have no problem with a VISA payment. I made it 

clear to the OMB department that this is the immediate shipped 

price. We have to ship it as soon as possible; as the City 

Manager mentioned, the markets are escalating by leaps and 

bounds. It is getting very volatile out there.” The City 

Attorney questioned, “If the Council approves this motion that 

is presently before them, are you prepared to sign the contract 

today and accept the purchase order today?” Mr. Montoya 

answered, “Yes. That wouldn’t be a problem.” The City Attorney 

advised, “It is our intention to place the purchase order today, 

because once we place it, we don’t care what happens in the 

industry. The purchase order is based on those prices.” Mr. 

Montoya stated, “I have no problem signing the contract today, 

but we must get it shipped immediately to obtain the lower 



CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES            JANUARY 11, 2012  

 

6 

 

price. We were able to secure these numbers with the 

manufacturer, but it was on the contingency that it would be 

shipped today. The current market price is a lot more than the 

prices that you are seeing here. Also, the reason that we were 

able to secure them is because of the City of Port St. Lucie’s 

reputation in the sense of payment. We don’t have to worry about 

that, as the payments will be made. That is also a big factor, 

as the manufacturer knows that it will be taken care of with a 

VISA payment. The size of the order is also a big deal to the 

manufacturer, especially now. These prices are significantly 

cheaper than what the market is calling for right now, and that 

is because it is immediate.” Councilman Kelly stated, “Every 

time you see gas go up .30 or .40 cents a gallon in a month, you 

know that the pipe price will go up too.” Mr. Montoya stated, 

“Especially with the volatility with Iran right now, we don’t 

know what is going to happen. If they close that strait, we 

could see gas prices go up to $4 and $5 a gallon, and that will 

dramatically affect manufacturing. If that happens, it is called 

force majeure, which is an act of God. It is a loophole, which 

means all bets are off. We don’t see that happening. If we are 

able to secure this today, the manufacturer will ship it 

immediately. The City will receive the pipes at the water 

treatment plants that are selected.”       

  

Vice Mayor Bartz seconded the motion. Councilman Kelly asked, 

“Are we going to let the other gentlemen speak or not?” Mayor 

Faiella replied, “There is no reason at this point.” (Clerk’s 

note: The HD representative said from the audience, “The 

exception that the Ferguson representative just made regarding 

force majeure is the exact same language that we were making an 

exception for.” Mayor Faiella stated, “I understand, but we are 

moving forward with this because we have already made a motion.” 

The City Clerk restated the motion as follows: to rescind the 

contract award to HD Supply Waterworks, LTD., that was approved 

on Monday, January 9, 2012, and award the contract to Ferguson 

Enterprises, Inc. The motion passed unanimously by roll call 

vote. 

  

The City Attorney said, “I want to thank the Council for their 

cooperation on such short notice in making themselves 

available.” Councilwoman Berger stated, “It is unusual for a 

Council to recognize errors with their staff, and to counsel or 

coach them in public. I think it is important to redirect and 

say that it would have been an appropriate time for the Council 

to indicate to the City Attorney that he was the last one 

looking at the information that came from OMB. I would expect 

that the City Attorney or the City Manager would be the ones 



CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES            JANUARY 11, 2012  

 

7 

 

that we would have that conversation with to make sure that if 

the information needed to be pulled, that it was pulled 

appropriately. Thank you for all that you do in OMB. This is an 

opportunity for us to see how much work actually goes on behind 

the scenes that we don’t get to be a part of. This contract 

happened to have issues, but we fixed it, so thank you.”   

 

5. ADJOURN  

 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 11:30   

a.m. 

 

_____________________________________ 

Karen A. Phillips, City Clerk  

 

_____________________________________ 

April C. Stoncius, Deputy City Clerk    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


